IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SUMNER COUNTY, TENNESSEE
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DEBBIE ANN BOLTON, surviving child A
Of Decedent RUTH CLARA SUMMERS LUG T 4 2024

KATHREY W CLERK
E% DG

CASE NO. 83 CC1 2020 CV 613
W JURY DEMAND

Plainislis,

GALLATIN CENTER FOR
REHABILTIATION & HEALING, LLC

Defendant.

DEFENDANT'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

Plaintifi"s Motion for New Trial should be denied, and the unanimous verdict of the jury
approved by the Court in its role as thirteenth juror. The weight of the evidence preponderates in
favor of the jury s verdicl. The jury was properly instructed on their duties as jurors, were atlentive
throughout the proceeding, and took time and care in their deliberations. The Court should be
satisfied with the jury's verdict, 1t is fair and just

L. The Trial Court as the Thirteenth Juror

Under Rule 59.07 of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure, “[a] new trial may beé granted
te all or any of the partics and on all or part of the issues in an action in which there has been a
trial by jury for any of the reasons for which new trials have heretofore been granted.” Tenn, I
Civ. P 52.07. “Where the motion for o new trial asserts that the verdict was conlrory Lo the weight
af the evidence it is the duty of the trial judge io weigh the evidence and determine whether il
preponderates agelast the verdict, and if so, to grant a new tral.” Janes B Sirates Showsy, Ine, v,

Jakobik, 554 5.W 2d 613, 615 (Tenn, 1977). Appellate Courts attach great weight to the Gact that



the trial court, “*having seen and heard the witnesses testify, and having submilted the case o a
jury known to himsell, has stamped the verdict with his approval by refusing to grant a new trial.™
Sherlin v. Roberson, 551 8.W.2d 700, 702 (Tenn. C1. App. 1976) (quoting Tenn. C. & R.R. v
Roddy, 5 S.W. 286 (Tenn. 1886).

Plaintiff cites repeatedly to the very recent Tennessee Supreme Court case Fam. Truss
Serve. LLC v. Green Wike Homes LLC, 2024 Tenn. LEXIS 284 (Tenn. July 10, 2024) in support
of her motion. Fam. Trust offers nothing new. It simply reiterates the essential role of the trial
judge as thirteenth juror.

1.  The Evidence At Trial Fully Supports The Jury's Verdict
A. Plaintiff failed to mect her burden of proof on causation and instead sought to
have the jury speculate based om unreliable opinions and faet witness
testimony lacking credibility.

Plaintiff argues that a new trial must be granted because the jury's verdict is contrary to the
weight of the evidence. Her argument relies heavily on characterization of Defendant’s experts’
opinion testimony as “speculative,” but she presents no evidence from the record that supports thal
characterization. She poinis to the rebutial testimony of Plaintiff"s infectious disease physician,
Dir. Blass, that it was speculative to opine thal an asymplomatic resident, visitor, or state surveyor
infected Ms. Summers. What the proof actually established was that it was even more speculative
for the Plaintiff to point the finger at 5, and then just 2, staff members as the source of Ms.
Summers® infection when there were 161 residents and staff members who tested positive for
COVID-19, many of whom were asympiomatic.  Recall also that Dr. Fridkin testified without
challenge that other sources of Ms. Summers' infection included asymplomatic or presymplomalic
residents and staff who were positive sometime in March 2020 but who tested negative by the time

the National Guard performed testing on all staff and residents,



In point in fact, Dr. Blass's rebuttal testimony was the final nail in the coffin that was
Plaintiff's case. Plaintiff, via her experts, maintained throughout the trial that the source of Ms.
Summers’ COVID-19 infection was one or all of 5 specifically named employees or former
employees of Gallatin Center. Then, on rebuttal, Dr. Blass for the first time reduced the list of
likely culprits from 5 1o 2. Astoundingly, the 2 who remained on the list never provided care to
Clara Summers. One was a housekeeper, Diego Lugo, and the other was the activities director,
Amanda Gilbert. Bumped from the list were a nurse, a nurse aide, and a physical therapist.

Even more devastating to Plaintiff*s case wes her own expert's concession on Cross-
examination wherein Dr, Tepper testified that he was unable to identify to a reasonable degree of
medical certainty who actually infected Ms. Summers with the virus.'

An important point established through expert proof at trial was that exposure 1o a COVID
positive individual does not necessarily lead to infection. Here is Dr. Fridkin's trial testimony on
the subject:

Q.- - Okay. - And to go - revisil one other point. Exposure does not equal infection; is
that what you told before?

A.- - Right.

Q. - You would have to speculate whether a person who exposed Ms. Summers io the
COVID virus actually infected her?

A, -Correct.

Q.- ' - We have no way of knowing, do we?

A.- - - -Correct 2

Therefore, as a threshold matter, the jury was being asked by Plaintiff to speculate that

Mr. Lugo and/or Ms. Gilbert not only exposed Ms. Summers to the virus that causes COVID-19

! The relevant portion of the trial transcript is attached heveto as Exhibit A.
* The relevant portion of the trial transeript is attached hereto as Exhibit B,
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butl that one or both of them infected her with the virus, Because neither Mr. Lugo nor Ms. Gilbert
actually provided care 1o Ms, Summers, the supposed evidence thal cither or both were in close
contact with Ms. Summers during any time relevant to this lawsuit must be carefully scrutinized.

In the case of Mr, Lugo, the only testimony that he was in close contact with Ms. Summers
came from one ol PlaintilT"s two combination fact witness/nurse experts, Kay Holmes. The proof
al irial established that Ms, Holmes worked a total of 4 days in March 2020 (March [, 2, 8 & 21).
Ms. Holmes testified that while working on a completely different unit on March 21, 2020, she
personally observed Mr, Lugo have a conversation with Ms. Summers lasting some 5 to 7 minutes.
That is the sum total of the proof regarding Mr. Luge’s claimed connection to Ms. Summers.

Ms. Holmes® credibility was closely observed by the jury, and they clearly found it to be
lacking. Why? At a minimum because: 1) She admitted to having worked on a case previously
with Plaintift's counsel in which she was a whistleblower against another nursing home at which
she was employed; 2) She admitted to contacting Plaintiff's counsel and volunteering her services
in this case; 3) She admitted to recruiting her old friend Kris Brooks to also work for Plaintiff™s
counsel in the cases against Gallatin Center; 4) She oflered a ridiculous story at trial that she was
sick on the moming of March 21 but came to work anyway to be screened to “make a record” and
with no expectation that she would be put to work; 5) She claimed to have been forced to work
sick that day by some unidentified supervisor on the phone; 6) She claimed she was refused a mask
despite feeling sick; 7) She claimed the weekend supervisor, Sara Beth Pryor, LPN, refused to
allow her 1o go to her car to retrieve a mask and told her she would be fired if she wore a mask; 8)
She claimed to have taken notes while watching the facility being evacuated while sick at home
and that those notes specifically included mention of Mr. Lugo having contect with Ms. Summers

on the last day Ms. Holmes worked. However, Ms. Holmes could not produce any such notes; 9)



She admitied to sending an email (introduced as a irial exhibit) to the mayor of Sumner County on
March 31, 2020 claiming management at Gallatin Center were liars and pleading with the mayor
to not allow Gallatin Center to reopen; 10) She admitled to sending a Facebook message io the
(allatin Center administrator the very next day (April 1, 2020) asking for her job back while she
was already working for Plaintiffs counsel; 11) She returned te work at Gallatin Center in 20022
and never enee mentioned to anyone that she was working for Plaintifl™s counsel on the numerous
cases pending against Gallatin Center stemming from the COVID outbreak; 12) She attended
almost every day of trial afler she testified and she sat with Plaintiff"s family; and 13) She admitted
during her reburtal testimony that she was a biased witness and that she wanted plaintiff to prevail.
Any one of the foregoing wes sufficient for the jury—"the sole and exclusive judges of the
credibility or believability of the witnesses who have testified in the case”—to deem Ms. Holimes
untruthful. See, T.P.1. Civil 2.20,

There are 14 listed guestions in T.P.L Civil 2.20 for the jury to consider in judging the
credibility of witnesses. Those include: 7) Was the witness making an honest effort to tell the
truth, or did the witness evade questions™" 8) “Did the witness have any interest in the cutcome of
the case?; 9) “Did the witness have any motive, bias or prejudice that would influence the witness'
testimony?"; 107 “How reasonable was the wilness' testimony when you consider all of the
evidence in the case™: and 11) “Was the witness' testimony contradicted by what that witness has
said or done at another time, by the testimony of other wilnesses, or by other evidence?”. There
is simply no way the jury could have considered these questions and deemed Ms. Holmes 1o be
credible. In its role as fact-finder, it is the duty and prerogative of the jury to assess the credibility

of the witnesses, Roach v Dixie Gas Ca., 371 5.W.3d 127, 151 (Tenn. CL. App. 2011).



Tao further illusirate the depth of Ms. Holmes' credibility problems, we cannot forget that
her testimony about being forced by Murse Sarah Beth Pryor to work sick and without a mask on
March 21 was directly contradicted by Ms. Pryor, a former employee. Ms. Pryor lold the jury that
she would have never allowed Ms. Holmes 1o work sick and maskless on March 21, 2020 or any
other day during the pandemic because, amongst other reasons, Ms. Pryor's own mother was a
resident on the very unit on which Ms. Holmes was working that day. The Court should also
recall staff member Freda Keen, who was Ms, Holmes' sercener on March 21, testifying that she
had specific recall of Ms. Holmes insisting on working that day despite positive answers on her
screening sheet. Ms. Keen explained that this event stood out to her because she had never before
encountered an employee who claimed to be ill but nevertheless insisted on working. That is why
Ms. Keen remembered Ms. Pryor being called from the floor to interview Ms. Holmes that day.

The only testimony that implicated Amanda Gilbert came from Plaintiff’s other
combination fact witness/nurse expert, Kris Brooks, LPN (now RN). The jury also clearly did not
find Ms. Brooks credible, and their conclusion was justified. Ms, Brooks: 1) Admitied to being a
terminated for violating facility policy and that she had lingering hurt feelings over the termination;
2) Admitted to being recruited to work for the Plaintiff by her old friend Kay Holmes; 3) Testified
about personally encountering physical therapist Lourdez Lanas “sick as a dog” at the nurses
station on Thursday March 19, 2020 and complaining that she was being forced Lo work sick.
However, timeshects reflected Ms. Lanas didn't even work on Thursday March 19, 2020. Rather,
her last day at work was conflirmed by timesheets to be Wednesday March 18, 2020 and that she
was in lhe building less than a half hour and left because she was not feeling well. Ms. Lanas
testified she did not sec a single patient that mormning and was never at the nurscs station. She also

testified that Ms. Summers, a hospice patient, was nol even on her patient list. Ms. Lanas testified



she was off work at Gallatin Center from March 18 until mid-April 2020 due to COVID.; 4) Ms.
Brooks testified that Amanda Gilberl, as activities director, routinely escorted residents to the
communal dining room despite CMS mandating no communal dining or communal activities as
of March 13, 2020, The Courl may recall Plaintill"s counsel telling the jury during opening
statements that they would hear from Ms. Gilbert. That never happened.

It should also be remembered that Ms. Holmes® and Ms. Brooks® testimony that there were
no masks to be found at Gallatin Center from March 1 to March 21, 2020 was totally debunked by
a parade of current and former Gallatin Center employees, some of whom testified they wore
masks during those dates.

In sum, for the jury to conclude that either Mr. Lugo or Ms. Gilbert infected Ms. Swmmers
required them to believe the lestimony of Kay Holmes and Kris Brocks. The jury clearly did not
believe either of them. It also required the jury to speculate whether exposure equaled infmginn.

B. Defense experts offered no speculative opinions and Defendant did not seek to
have the jury speculate to reach its verdict.

PlaintifT argues that neither of Defendant’s experts, Dr. Fridkin nor Dr. Boger, identified
the specific person who infected Ms, Summers. For this reason, she asserts, Dr. Blass westified that
the defense experts’ opinions on inevitabilily of Ms. Summers’ infection were speculative. For the
same reason, she argues that Defendant failed 10 even present a viable alternative to Plaintiff's
medical chain of causation and thal the defense theory on causation was premised on conjecture.

The burden of proof rested solely with the Plaintiff. Consistent with Tennessec law, the
jury was instructed that negligence cannot be presumed simply based on the existence of an injury.
Defendant had no affumative burden 1o oflfer wviable aliernative theories for Ms, Sumimers’
infection. See Roache v. Dixie Gay Co.. 371 8 W.3d 127, 148 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2011) (*The

| Plaintiffs] at all times had the burden to establish causation between the Defendants’ negligence



and their injuries; the Defendants were not required to establish an alternative cause in order 10
avoid liakbility.™) Ciling Miller v. Choo Choo Pavtners, LP., 73 S.W.3d 897, 901-02 (Tenn. Ct.
App. 2002).

Even absent having a burden 1o disprove Plaintiff*s causation theories, Dr. Fridkin testified
to & reasonable degree of medical certainty that the failure of stafl to wear masks at Gallatin Center
sooner than they did was not the cause Clara Summers death and he explained the basis for his
opinion.} Dr. Fridkin testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that negligent screening
was not the cause of Ms. Summers® infection and he explained the basis for his opinion* Dr.
Fridkin testified to a reasonable degree of medical cerlainly that the source of Ms. Summers
COVID-1% infection could not be isolated to the 5 individuals identified by Plaintiff, and he
explained the basis for his opinion.® These opinions were hardly speculative. Plaintiff ultimately
agreed with his opinion concerning 3 of the 5 individuals in question. Dr. Fridkin, instead,
established that it was plaintiff's experts’ causation opinions that were speculative.

[r, Boger offered the same causation opinions as Dr. Fridkin and also specifically testified
that no actions or inaclions on the part of Gallatin Center staff caused otherwise avoidable harm
to Ms. Summers. He also opined that Gallatin Center complied with the recognized standard of
acceplable professional practice. He too rendered all opinions to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty. Dr. Boger's opinions were also not speculative,

Plaintiffs entire basis for a new trial boils down to the fact that the defense did not identify
the specific person who infected Ms. Summers. Plaintiff had the burden of proving a theory of

causation and a causal chain between the defendant's misconduct and the complained of harm,

' The relevant portion of the trial transcripd is attached hereto as Exhibit C.
4 The relevani portion of the trial transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit D.
£ The relevant portion of the (rial transcripl is allached hereto as Exhibit E.
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through the testimony of fact witnesses and the opinion testimony of her experts. Plaintifl failed
to meel her burden and Plaintiff" s evidence was effectively rebutted by Defendant’s fact witnesses
and its experts’ opinions. Again, it was not the Defendant’s burden to identify the source of Ms.
Summers’ infection.

An expert's opinion as to a chain of causation can be considered speculative if it contains
oo many conlingencies and is the “equivalent of a domino theory of causation. ” Franklin-Mansuo
v. AMISUE {5FH), fnc., No. W2016-01623-COA-R3-CV, 2017 Tenn. App. LEXIS 399, at *14
{Ct. App. Sep. 6, 2017). The qualifications, experience and expertise of Defendant’s experts were
established at trial and will not be repeated here, nor is an exhaustive recounting of the peer
reviewed research authored by and/or relied upon by them necessary. [Uis in the record of the trial.
An expert’s opinion based on research and expertise, that alternative and more likely causal chains
exist than the one presented by Plaintiff, is evidence, not conjecture. An example of conjecture
would be testimony that perfect screening and flawless masking would have prevented Ms.
Summers’ infection. That is why Dr. Blass candidly conceded at trial that importation of the virus
into Gallatin Center was inevitable.® Dr. Tepper made the same concession.” The conclusion that
an event would not have occurred absent negligence, because it would have been less likely under
perfect circumstances, requires speculation. A plaintiff must show more than the mere possibility
to sustain the burden of proof, White v. Methodist Hosp. 5., B44 5. W 2d 642 (Tenn. CL. App. 1952).

1t is also notable that Plaintiff admitted in response to Defendant’s request for admissions
that “Individuals could become infected with the Coronavirus in March 2020 despite taking all
available government mandated or recommended precautions.” (RFA 99} It was also admilled

that “Individuals could become infected with the Coronavirus in March 2020 in the absence of

% The relevant portion of the trial transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit F.
" The relevant portion of the trial transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit G.
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negligence or deviation from ithe recognized standard of acceptable practice by health care
providers.” (RFA 100} These binding admissions undermined Plaintiff's causation arguments.

In contrast to Plaintiff's infectious disease expert (Blass) and internal medicine expert
{Tepper), Dr. Fridkin testified based on peer-reviewed research, performed by himself and others,
of the high number of asymptomatic carriers who could not be identified through symptom-based
sereening in the absence of rapid testing. He testified that the risk of transmission when the
infection source is wearing a mask is still greater than 50%. Plaintiff's pulmonologist, D,
Salzman, conceded that the journal article he considered authoritative only showed an efTicacy rate
for masks of 54%. Dr, Fridkin testified that authoritative research data indicates that the combined
usze of masking and screening had very limited impact on transmission rales in nursing homes prior
to the availability of rapid testing and vaccines. All such opinions were rendered to a reazonable
degree of medical certainty. Those expert opinions substantially assisted the jury. Dr. Blass’s

incessant references to condoms, pregnancy, and genital herpes did not.

C. The jury's verdict is consistent with Tennessee law.

Plaintiff argues that a finding of negligence without a finding of causation was contrary to
the evidence. It should be abundantly clear to the Court for the myriad reasons set forth above and
below that the evidence preponderates in favor of the jury's verdiel. The Tennessee Supreme
Court acknowledged long ago that “proximate causationis the ultimate issue
in negligence cases[,]" and that “proof of negligence without proof  of causation is
nothing." MeClenahan v. Cooley, 806 5,W.2d 767, 774 (Tenn. 1991)).; King v. Anderson Ciy., 419

8.W.3d 232, 246 (Tenn. 2013). That is at most what the jury found here.
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D. The Weight of the Evidence Preponderates in Favor of the Jury's Verdict
Defendant rebutied Plaintiff"s evidence and even while not being legally required to do so,
provided a viable alternative to Plaintiff's chain of causation. Defendant’s experts relied on
scholarly research and the actual facts of the case and testified that it was much more likely that
Ms. Summers was infected by one of the numerous asymptomatic staft or residents to whom she

was exposed al Gallatin Center rather than a facility housekeeper and the activity director.

On a motion for a new trial, *for the evidence 1o preponderate against [the factl-finder's]
finding of fact, it must support another finding of fact with greater convineing effect.” " Buckley v.
Elephant Sanctuary in Tenn., Inc., 639 5.W.3d 38, 60 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2021) (quoting Spam v,
Am. Exp. Travel Related Servs. Co., 224 3. W 3d 698, 707 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2008). The evidence
presenied by Plaintiff at trial does not support Plaintiff’s chain of causation with greater convincing
effect.

All Plaintifi"s experts conceded at trial that asyimptomatic and presymptomatic infected
persons can transmit the virus, Even Plaintiffs pulmonology expert, Dr. Salzman, conceded that
asympiomalic and presymplomalic carriers were determined to be responsible for at leasl 50% of

all COVID-19 infections.  On that point, Dr. Salzman and Dr. Fridkin agreed.

Maintill also offered evidence that it was Ms. Summers’ habit to sit in the hallway visiting
with her friends and stopping people passing by to engage them in lengthy conversations, and that
people tended to gel close to speak with her because she was hard of hearing. One cannot offer

that evidence and nonctheless try to falsely suppress the number of likely sources of Ms. Summers®

infection.

The evidence of the high number of COVID-19 cases amongst residents and stall, and of

the high number of those who were asymptomatic, combined with the absence of countervailing
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evidence Mrom the Plaintiff that any of these individuals were symptomatic when in contact with
Ms. Summers, shows that there were far more asymptomatic residents, stalf or other persons in
the Gallatin Center besides the 5 (later 2) staff members upon whom Plaintiff attempted to build
her chain of causation,
E. Conclusion

The jury was attentive throughout the trial, and they obviously took their duties seriously.
They rendered a just and fair verdict afler a lengthy trial. The evidence strongly preponderates in
favor of the jury’s verdict. Defendant knows that the Court takes its duty as 13™ juror just as
sertously as did the jury. The Court had the same opportunily 1o hear and see the evidence and
assess the credibility of the witnesses. The Court should arrive at the same conclusion as did the
jury. There is no legal or factual basis for the Court to be dissatisfied with the jury’s verdict. The
jury got it right.

The jury verdict should be left undisturbed. Accordingly, Plaintiff"s motion for new trial
should be DENIED.

Respectlully submitted,
QUINTAIROS, PRIETO, WOOD & BOYER, P.A.
siHoward B. Haydey

HOWARD HAYDEN, #10986
LEMA MORGAN, #35457

5050 Poplar Avenue, Suite 1430
Memphis, Tennessee 38157

(901 312-1640/(01) 112-1639 fax
Howard. Havdeni@gpwhlaw.com
Lena Morgani@gpwhlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant. Gallatin Center for
Rehabilitarion and Healing, LLC
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SHEELEY, LLF

s/ Andvew Sheeley by H. Havden w/ permu

Andrew T. Sheeley, NY #4270575 pro hae vice
100 Wall Street, 19 Floor

New York, NY 10005

(646) 893-2273

Sheeley(@sheeleyllp.com

Co-Caunsel for Defendant, Gallatin Center for
Rehabilitation and Healing, LLC

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify that, on the 14 August 2024, a true and correct copy of the foregoing
document has been served in the manner of service indicated on the counsel of record listed below:

Dulin Kelly, Esqg.
Clint Kelly, Esq.
The Kelly Firm
629 East Main Street
Hendersonville, TH 37075

O By 1.5, Mail, first-class postage prepaid.

O By facsimile.

LJ By the Court's electronic filing system pursuant to Rule 464,

O By e-mail in Adobe PDF format with confirmation sent pursuant to Tenn, R. Civ. P, 5.02(2).
Ul By hand delivery.

& By e-mail per agreement of counsel.

O By third party express delivery carrier, i.e., Federal Express, for overnight delivery

s Howard: B, Hoyden

HOWARD B. HAYDEN
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back {hore, B | askod it incorrecily, | want yau o
assuma lhat that was tha case. As you Bl nase, Doctos --
A, Forwihich indiidustaT Yt ure pou

clanlying was wearing a mask?

Q. Mo, I'm assuming you fo assumo ghat
indivicluyals wha did ael hivse the Tu vacsing -

&, Yeah,

. =wore redqudred 1o woar & mask al fho
nursling homo a5 of March of 2020,

oy CHeay,

0. Qkay. A& you &l hene 1oday, do you hawe no
I if Dlogo Lo was waccinaiod for Bhe fla, do you?
A 1 g mnl.

a ¥ou havo no (dap W Melissa Glben --0F
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K|
drnps down 1o o 90 porcenl reduchian. 5o Mad woukl hive ?
bttty -y cien ke B mask on @ tesidenl, thal would
have Beet a siubatanilal rechiclian of sk
Q. Aure you avwara i nursing home realdonts can
b foresd 10 waar masks In fha nuersing lama?
A, Thesy ean'l, no, Cenl be forced, | mean,

Ie lalked with resideals, Pyve sncousngad Bam - aomn

of thom Sk b, | medn, | gove insendces an SARS SOV-2
whiara e I'HWFIIH-"' counasl, whana he esidonls have some
cantrol oeer what's going an in @e faclily, You know,

{ha repiracontalive rasidonts canbribube 1o this and the
direglor ol mirsing pasiicipaies in iFam and ides &n

educule whal's coming down Bie ploe, iz b wlal he

winus s, And same of Them really wanied Lo be proaciive
antl many -- prohably a Ihed, i not, post in no condion

1 b ahle b0 kaep the nsss ane We wanlsd o be sbld
cormimuanicate with Bem and, you know, feeding. IU's |ust

ral really samathing most rescants can raliahly do

L] Wihat ahut @ rosident ko Clara Semmers who
had torminal end:stage COPD?

N, Wall, thal would be a prebdeme Argbody

Thisk's god undalying fung dizease, & very dificull o

jast put @ maskonand expect lhem o keep don. In

lact, Mk coneapd of unlenrsal measking doosn T oomo

willul risk U sy %0 A0, evaryine should Wl o

a3
Ly heallhease workars (hal are esymaplomalis o

peeayreptomaic, dossn' aliminabs ihe risk of tansmiszion
toa patlanl. Thero's obbor fhings fhat go into jho fsk

s well.. Thands just nol e presance of il, 10 o

duratian of contact as well ns ke concenirallone. The

thiked fia Uve viabiily of Uve by eell @nd o bong 11

sunvives aulsids the body. Sa lhe toncenlralion may have
boen rechiced, and | Ibink they stopped tho procodune marsks
et 1 s Thal veerm in uss, Tal Thet's probabily ol

1) pevcenl.

2 8 Cay. Yoo tnlkad about tho pataniial Issuss
raganding the woading of meake by slall workors wilh
asthma or resplratory conditions. Yoo Just fald ws aboud
ihat, corroct®

A, ¥,

(=N ‘What about == what abaut the risk, i any, of
dovalapmont af odher infacilons as a resll of wsing a
miask

A 5o e use of measks has sen moesily promdsieg
ard studied nnd heakhcare o3 it jelnts o heallbcans
walkers. Par of our misskan &s healthcams

ppidominiogals is o promode hanlihgare workor saleby and
peomale paliand salaly. Yo don’ gnoro i ealihcase
wearars, We locus on (e patients @ b, bul wae alsn

loms an heallicade wistker salely. So (e febs o
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musk, bt if you're (oling every heallheans workes (o

siras j MAsk, soira of ham have andmiying lung condilsas
Wioir know, ey sy e aallime, thay may havo COPDL And
wou cannal keap a lightSiling meah on o face o A

wiiae ahill, And Saln what wns nesily being asked.

And fer realdonta, IFe the anms ing — you

Wnosy, tho way hal we advisod our residers o) Bud Tetecs
it O Yol linving your (oo, please (ry b pul a mask
on, You knov, some al Ih pesllenis &g peoclly atie o

o thul, Bul il you have underiying lung conddions, s

gete vary uncamforiatiln wary (nsl,

Aind I can speak o vl Mnom ieeibving ber

mindieal meord and ssoing how many ealmens she noaded
laf coughing and she Aeansed ko adhiss Tham pesiadically,
Soams el shs hal 0 reosren] need lor msdicalicn fof har
COPD and roactivo alrways. | s that in She chart in the
vtk e BEading up i the nleckcn

G Dockor, | waril you i asEwme, ploass, thal
tharn's haan lastimary hal tha fallare of siuff to wear
meneks nt Golladln Condor seanar ibon ihey did ceused Clara
Sumimeds” doath! do you ajfes or disngieb whh Ihal
cpinlony
A,

a.

A

| dizagpaa wills sl baing & cauaal argumant
Why?
Wl as [ Iry %o Nlerate, | nk mask use

36
Eaing & healincsne warkers, You ar & sk lor

coniracling inleclions fram e pollends you'ne carng
ahow, S0 o lofal efior al COC, as well as other
Pafernl. agoncias i 1o prolec healliscans workees.

So hene's boen a lot of vork anound whad
ot to e odons fog Faplihcas workiers Lo be abio ko
salely wear mask, Sokstadcally prkar io e pandamic,
Iheso's pariiooiar bypes of infoctions thal pafenls maoy
havm thal moueed healh warkars o waa @ pralecive
maak, & laes mosk Ususlly (hose s N-057. And 0
arder for a hospital 1. ar a beallboane instilulion 1o
hinye Binalihcare workars wear N-055, Bey'ne supposed 1o
go Eraugh a FIT tasling progeam, which maans evaryoody
gets instruction on how o pul Be band on, made sure (s
Thas righd size dor thair face, They're nol supposed o
T Tacial hairs. So you would peobiably mopd a shavs
arourel or ged a specal Bifrg on (hal goes sound the
g, Wou ton You lea, Andsa thal's — thal ks an
aidait (hat iy -- hoaplais Rave a rospiralory FIT
besliveg program o be abde o 55 all Thelr health workers
with [hesa ype masks.

During the oulbrosk san of ==iling, e
with ZaR8 COV-1, people were dver mashing because hais
wins @ e Bear going on, A bol of mask use gaing on.
Al wi Ecaldn Rigura call why somn hioalibcare workers

S:E¥P ,
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infacied, thal wa would care for ard mansge vwill fhs
proper PPE and tha proper gear.

So whaon wa had avallability 1o fasl elther
ﬂElh‘ﬂfWE-ElH'f o aithar wics & weak, wa wars able o
ey ard kesp on lop of new Infeclions thal wens
oeouring, keep the oulbreak small So maoybe a visitor or
 Hospkea workar of indacted heailhgana wariar cama in mnd
did ransmil 1ha virus, despibe & mask, 3o & residant,
thal we wara lesling teice a month = 'm sorry, Iwice a
waak ar dadly, which |s what nursing homaes wara dolng
lalss iri 2020, wa warlad 1o antily & resldenl and be
abda I i=alate 1hem ared move Them oy and be able o
carlain Tha culbreak. Soserial lesling hecams a really
praad 1ol [sal im ackdilian 1o mesking. in addilion -- wa
slill did scresning, was the mosl efeclive [oal hal we
pal as we pragressed [n the pamdemic

Tha wery 111 [Busirate B s, 'm very prowd
because we warked really hard in (e slabs of Gocegls and
the health depariment and a docloral studenl fa puiblish a
papar oall iha mirsng homas in Georglp.  And, you kno,
thie dals all 1he informalian wes puldically svailalsha an
fthe nerslng hama COVID infection data.  And she boked al
s - oF wid locled ol the size and dustion of e
audbraaks (rom (i alest And thay'ne big. And IF peu
had like & graph aboul the s=See and dusation of (s

47
B Seral testig definilnhy reduces he slze of

n dbranh, And K5 nol Ul sedisl leging, |0
ramping up the lesting, depencing on Fowe muck SOV
aclivity s in yorr communily. Socas COAD acisily comes
up R cormrmiily 0 § ST dip, B nacing s bin
now insinieied b sl eing once 3 weok. onos & day.
ovary day, dapsrding on hew bigh & i&. 3o lhoy go

raralal whinls gaing on and e Wsling prackoas

Q. ikt And | was ol relocisg 1o the
ovalabilily of rapid tesfing as far as my parcardapos,
Talking atoul baforn rapsd lasting was availabds fo
riarairg lemmos, dld e waaring of maks and symplom-hased
scraaning reduceo ihe risk of nirodacing tie virus Into
i i hama by baas (s Hall?

A, Mo, Mo 1k I - | boss my epinien an
soweral of ho daia. &nd Pmesomy | Gl for so long

Biil | i@alky — s i whol Pee been dong. | reviewved

Ty Marafers §o Wy & oastly quamligy U e yoo, |

maan, | ket mnan infeclion presaninnkil, on dipai s
Infection prevendon and waiking in rumieg hames g such
ars Pve o, Bt umbversal masking did nol have a big
mmpack, bt Ihal's nol onoagh I =l Kk | nopded o

coma hore and Iy o quaniity |, Thal's whal
wgilarmitnghils &G, vee by Inoguankly dak Asd | el

ihm ynmg vords lkp whetsebinly snd erendinbly, Fal's
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ouilrask baing hgh and If they're small, you go down on

this graol aver me. Tha alze srd duration of (he
oulbraak s Galdy [ange and il says Tairly hovel aver

Bma. And wa gat Yo S point al universal masking and it
doasn'l reatly budga. And han wa gael i fhe poird whera
thera's sariad availoble to rapid besl and i really comes
down, And Ihis & a graph wilh a reproduciiee membes, ol
just Me size and dursiion of the gulbreak,

Undl we gel lo vaceinalion, L deesn] deop
doram o whore pubilic healih peaple really wanted, (e --
which was alimasl b 2em. Like that was a game changer.
AL il v, you know, bemaly eanging vill universal
masking and tien we had the availabe of rapid leaiiveg snd
ihal's when || sianied 1o come down amd then il really
came down sfter vecdnalion,

Sa I lhink Ihal's evidenca thal tha haols we
tsadd in Mdarch, the aclive screening, which was o flaved
slmatagy. Evan H perfeciy mmpismented. ard we have
evilencs afl hal wilk e WA b5 Sealls and alhar nuesing
homas, mclicing our rrsing home, unversal masking |
Wink decreasas he siza and duratien of The oulbreaks,
tred i doesn'L aliminals (ham,  Serlal eeling | tink
mally hodpd,

. Deas it raduca the size and duration of the
cwibreak by less than holl?

18
wihal v pul inbe the nows, bul LR like you all needed

#n hoibal aalimabe wilh apms precision, Ard thals winy |
Ipoiked ol B irom bath serl of Bhal popuistion level as
wall &z thal nxparmanial keval bo saying the source, the
haalfhcals worker, s wiarn] & peocaten mask and what's
e redustion sk, and | Tnk iU's aboul 40 paresn.

0. Okay. | wanl you 1o assuma, Boctor, thare's
bean lelimany Irom planbilims azpans that the -- 1k
negligeni screening — sympton-aged scroaning of stalf at
Gallatin Center was the cauvso of M. Summars' dastly; do
youl agren ar disagres wilh thaty

M | fisagras vl Tiol beieg ihe causn.

=N Is that for the rensonings we olready
axploirad® Ldan't wand 1o baad a dead harse -

A Yea | lhink | saw — or | fesd s
lestimony of inadequatsly parformed scrsaning o
incomplele screening. fnd as | said, | ik even iF Iba
sEinering 'Wasd doma parlechy. Tial vieus would hava been
impectd Inbe B s hors Bnd anpsmission would have
ST T

= ‘Was (& Insviiabls?

A | dio ek il was revidatils 8l fnd e

ey in the pandomic. Almost no nursing homes waeme
sparmed, Owaed any nursing homa Eal were in countios
wal had ssbEianiial (EeR o esidants of GO0 caing
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ihal March io April lima lama, of which Sumnar Counly wos

i of iham, 1 wes gelng lo ba Imparied, You know,
Ikera's peobably J00-glus slall thil waek &1 1hal Aurlag
[eziwan anad |us] e ololislics afono, basad on whal tha
and | hpoked B up, whal e COVID Incdants rate was In
‘Summear Counly during that manth keading we b Me. Summars’
nigelion. And ILwas sligndy kghar than in the county

| waiked bn, st by o waek of 86, Any esunly thal —

ony Bma tha papulstion bn e commnily has & ol of
Infaction, kealih warkers aro ol risk fram getng

Infaclicn ivorm foasa, Bom e communily, Thal's whal we
Fgured oul. Most of the haalihcars workars infeclions al
Iho nursing woriers wera geling woere fnom the!r
axpaitanca oulslde of the hasplis! and oulslda of e
haalzame sallisg.

o Didl == Dr. Fridiia, did tho Taclllly's

accaplanca of naw admésalens (o the facllily of patlenis
whe hid been discharged from hoapfials in March 2020 causo
Me. Summars” death?

A, My - D Going i answed i, | ieukaed i
documanis Ikal oulkne whal soms inlsclinn conlred
pracions wane al 1his nesing home, ab Gella@n Canlar,
And ihal ning adinbisions duiisg Bal lims padod codd be
w0 of quanlized and walched o make sure thay don'l mx
with lhe restof tho residenls, There's & sabs bo way I

51
COWID Indaction. Okay? |waml you o funhar e U o

o 15ésm wias & housekaapar whoaa rdme noaver appaars | s,
Summaors' chart. | want you o sasema theea's 8 nuarga wha
18 — IWEres Bian Mallmeny, wik wiineiisd sdminielaring
masdicatian to Ma. Summaors on March 248t -« March 24, 2020,
while not woaring 2 mask,

MR, C. KELLY: ¥our Honor. may |
approzch for a minuiaY

THE COURT. ¥au may.

{The fiollowieng | & Banch conference: )

MR . KELLY: Thens |% o msimony
Ihal Murse Witk wak cbaarsatl on Metch 218l ploviding
g to Futh Summers. Thals an semrc and I0s besn
repeabad wbco bm s casn,

MR, HAYDEM: Maybe Fm -- enlighien

MR, G KELLY: Mursa Holsss niover
tasliled thal she saw M. Wilten of BMurss Willen
previding cans on e 211,

MA. HAYDEN: Tal me what f'm daing
wrong and 1 siraighlen i cwl,

MR, C. BELLY: Yo' asking bim lo
8 el - -

MHA. MAYDEN: il steaighben it oul.

MA. . EKELLY: Sura. | hink IN's low

@ -~ By BN B 3 P o=

P T I T
W = ga Ry =

¥

&1 probably - that ocoured, desplie the scresning process.

30
handle rerw admissions in nursing homes. Bl e akdily

1o stop sdmissions into a rursing hams s very dificull
becaias il ahops the Bow of csring for patlents in the
refearing hospital. Ard they run oul of bads and a0 ¥'s

& cascading evanl. Tham's a mlationship babwoon
poslacute cara and acubs caie Fal lare's sale way o
mara]a patienis coming inle tho kang-lerm care satling.
Ewan il you'ta nal sund ihay're iInfected balona wa had lha
lest, you can manage them by putling ham in a lemperary
typa o kscdaticn of hardia them a particular wary,

And @0, no, | dor't ihink continuing to lake
admissions during March caused Ms. Summers’ death. And
again, | thirk II's much mone Skaly, moee masonabls tham
nofd thal an ssymglomatc indvidual beoughl e vines inko
Iha nursingg home, And | don’t know if that was a
healheans warkar, I that was a visilor, Il thal was
odiver providess ks comes in thal, you know, podialrist ar
bhavioral haallh individuals, you knaw, but it happened
arvdl Uvaire ‘Wil & Spresd of clfbreak theee and vare was

Ared wealild hasd occurred desplle a periec! soreaning
pIGCREs,

Q. &ll righl. Tha == | want you lo assume that

thi plalmliirs have Eeolatad Hva bndlviduals ot Galladin
Conber, wihi wars the maost llkely sowrce of Ms. Summon”

52
lo say, asseme thal providers wede providing cane, by

byireg & %o Tha 245l ls weong. 1l didn't happen hat day.

MR HAYDEM: Okay. |geliL

THE COURT: Al right. You're good.

[End of banch confesanca,)
B MR, HAYDEM:
Q. I'm gedng 1o shorthand and chango my quostion
a Hithe bi, | wanl you fo assums ihal there's baen
tostimany that @ housskespaer -- a cortaln housoheepar was
the souwrce of s, Bummars' COVID Imfaction, Olay? 1wank|
you iy assumd [hare’s baon testimany thal thore waore
careglvars who weno decumonted In tho chard as having
providod cans 1o s, Summars in March 2020 who
subasquently (eated posilive for COVID @n late March of
2030, | waml you bo assums thal amother individual, who
was singlad oull &5 badng a likaly source of Ma. Summars'
COVID Infeciban bn March of 2020, was the sctivites
director. |want you io assume thal == wall, wo've
afready talkod medication. Wo'va got two nursos, heo
madication aids. | wani you to assuma Ehat - jusi assuma
thee maddication alds sdminlstersd madic-alons o Ma.
Summars without wearing a mask in March of 2020, | alee
wiant you 1o assumo that a last individsal who has boon
singind oul s a physical tharapist who lasted posilive
Ter COVID-1% on March 21 and har leslimony was her ksl

BERES & ASS0CIATES COURT REPORTERS
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Thal ! Bumeer County was 3
ool Youw know,

e’y pra i @ el nursing

o and bassd on whal the -~

ard | loaked 110 D Incidenls rake was In
Sumnar Gouanty Enih leading e b Ma, Seamarg’
infecion, And il Wgher than im ke county

i verked in, about by oo finy county thak -

any i Bra popl vl s ol of
inladdian, heakh Lilsk [raim geling

Inloolon. Irerm homigg niy, Thal's whal we
Bgurad pol. Mes werhars. 1Ase e bl

sha pirsing woll [ Iheir

mepaienco o o of e

hioadhcan ging.
il = D, Fridkin, didi tho facilily's

accoplanca of nes admissions 1o ha faciiity of patienis

whi haal baun dlssharged Irom heapials in March 2500 cadse
Ma, Summen’ doalk?

A, Iy = I'm going b ansse no. | ewewed ihe
docuwdets thia! outline wial some infechon conlrol

praclicus wom ol T fising hama, & Gallaln Conldr

And their new admisshors during s ims period coufd be

&0it al quaniZed srd watched B makno suns Py don't mx

with (ha fas) ol e raidenta, Thera's & ailo o Wiy by

GOVl infection. OkayT | wanl you {0 firbes pssemn unljl
el them was a housakoeper whose namo navor appears In Ms
Bumimars' £hard, | want yau 10 FsEumi Iare's & mairsa wisd
1% = there's bean toslimony, was siinsgsed administaring
medicallon to Ms. Summars on BMarch 21sd -- Blach 71, D530,
wWilila Pl WaaTang & R

MR, G, KELLY! Yaur Heeor, may |
approsch lor & minile?

THE COURT: Yau may,

{The fofowing is @ bench confessnce: |

B S KELLY: Thevn i no beslimony
Uil s Vilem Wik obiservad on Maeh 21 prenddieg
can lo Aok Summms.  Thal's an epor amd e been
reptated faakcs i ihis came

ME, HAYDERE BAayba v — anlghlan

ME. C. KELLY: Phwos Holmes naver
pedlifadd Ihal ahi 3aw Ma, Slon or Fermn Witan
peaviding caon om tha Fal,

M. HAYOES: Tell mes whal ' doing
wrong and i1l siralghlon & cul

MA. T KELLY. You're askimg Fim lo
BESUNIE —

PR HAYDEH, 11 sirsaghlen Kool

R G BELLY: Saea, | ek iTs Lele
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handle ey admssions in norsing homes, Bul the ity

1o stap admissions inle @ muirsing homa s very dillicull
beeauge || slops e Bow of ciing for pallents in We
referring hospilal, And they run ol of heds and so @
acoptading avant  Thares & ralalicnerdp Dabwoon
paslacule core and acule cany thal lhare's sals way o
manage patents coming inle the lang-lerm care selling
Ewen W yonitr pecil sne ihay're Infected bedors wa had tha
fusl, you can manags lhem by pufting bem in & lemporary
type of isalalian or handie thom a particular way.

A B0, nio, | dordl Ihink coninuing to 1ake
il ssion during Murch caused Me. Summorg dealh. Al
again, | think it's much mane likely, mose reasonabls than
et thal an asymplomatc individual beowghl tha vines inta
he rrataing fame. And §dan know il Thad wis 8
heallhcare waorker, if that was o wisior, i that was
olbar providans that cam in That, you know, podiatrist or
biehmvceal haallh individuals, you ke, But | keppanad
and there was a spresd o oulbresy, theta ard [haia was
prahabiy -- hal ocoured, dospile the soraening proosss.
A woiahd hava oooutrod despilo o paron] soconing
process,
. AR rght The - | want you be assume that
el plaindIF's hava olatad P indlvidoals at Gallatin
Comler, who wor the most likeky souree of Me. Summors”

a9
I moy, ossume thal proddirs wese prosiding canm, By

lying It bo e 215t is wiong- 11 didaL happen Thal day

K, HAYDEN: Qhay. | gotiL

THE COURT: ARright. Vel goesd,

{End ol biench conference.
BY M. HAYDEN:
L} 1 golitg o sharllsnd and change my gussiion
o litElo e, | wang you fo assume ihat thene's boen
Inagimeny thol @ howeakooper — @ Sanlain housalanper was
tha saurce ol Ma. Summess" COVID infeclion. OkayT | wanl)|
you i assumae there's haen estimomy that thane werg
gareglvors who wore focisnondod in Big chart a5 having
providod care to Ms. Swmmens In March 2020 who
subsanuanily fostod pasitive for COVID in fata Manch of
Z020, [want yeu toassumo ihal anoiher individual, wha
wrs gingled cul a2 bolng o lkaly sowrss of e, Summoers”
COVID Infection in March of 2020, was 1l sctivilles
diractor, warl yosl 1o assEno Fhal < wadl, watvo
alreply Wlked modicalon, Wa've gol DWo NUrses, bva
meedlcation akls, 1warl you B assums el - Just sEsuma
tho mesdicablon 2ids admimdstored madicaians ie M,
Suwmmaes without waaring & mask in March of 2030, | alas
wand you b assuma et a fasl individual wise s bsan
alnglod out 15 8 physical tharaplst who testod positva
for COVID-19 o Mareh 21 andl vy ealimony was hor last
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53
day af wark was March 18, and har tostimony furlhor was

et alvk dibd ned woar - P aerry, (el ahe did wear mask
throughaut March of 200 bacsuas ahe had not had (he M
vaCe/ns and was requirgd to Go thot, Do you heve on
oplnban whslher (e chuas of Bs, Summars® COVID Infeclion
can be lsolated to any of those poeple?

A, Mo, you can

Q. Why naot?

A We want bo. | warled 1o aled in Bied Tanrmes,
Wilhoul lonowing - DBCEEID S0 mary = for ovany - for

avary syrepiomalc indiddusl whio gof tesbed, thans was an
asymptamulic infectious individual wia's nol being lested.

5o lhese indwidunls, the Swerapist or B olhor

indisidual — and (hase assumplicns are a [l hard 1o

keap Irack of, bl --
Q. Thanks.
A It dicesn’ maller. | ihink thal -~ s nol

it i diooian’| nallar. It malbeds, Bl wilkoul

Infzrmatian an the: daily sialus of botl - of ol the
caraghmrs and all (hi visliar and &l tha residants [hat
auricuruded bs. Surmnens, we can'l idently (he chain of
onfagion. This vires spread mpidly and from
asymplomadc and pragymplematic Indiiduals. Wi'd e ko
Ercw what s chaln of conlaglon is. 'We'd like to know
wh the first person was the bring it in, but the iac is

IMMHHMMMHmmmmmmMﬁ
CIOVID owtbreak. | Think when we'd ba able o do that
possihly was bafore thare was any importalion into the
WS, And we slill had evary case being beced batk lo an
internatiaral traveler and then s=eing what happened in
thadr family 82 |b was reporiad in,
Bul ance we had some aslabfished — ance wa

had casas In the commundty - and | can tall yow, | kave a
graph harg, Fou know, March 17th, you krow, len par
100,000, Margh 19th, 20 o evary 100,000, B was
increasing in Sumner County, right around thal fime during
thad Incubation pariod for Ma. Summers,

MR, HOWARD: Your Honor, | dont hawve
thal much mose, bul | know we've been doing lor quite a
whia, 8o | waniad 1o be mindld. So | didnt know il yau
wanl ms |6 ksep going or i you wand 1o laks o break.

THE COURT: Hat 5o much mi, bul | Shink
probably our jury needs one. Sa why don'l we lake & break
and alan again al 10:4:5.

MR, HAYDEMN: Thank youw, Your Hanor.

{The jury exits the courrcam. )

{# brief break tock place. )

| Tha jury anless e courlream. )

THE COURT: Ohay. We're galng 1o plek
. M. Hayden?
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the first persan to brirg i i was kely never beskad 3
and was asymplomatic. And Ehose st [kal weds dang =- |
dlbd rawlira s ligd T |aala thal vwas doma, |k @

was on tha 201h, e Nafors! Gusnd 1asiing on b 28R,
Thisa resdlls camo back, el sl of iediividuals, somes ol
Iy Individisata, (here are some individuals that are not

o Shase lisl thal ikely wees posiiive and Felr sl

cam back negaiive because these besls only slayed
pasilive far ive 10 tan days. In iagl, nursing homa

siaff. caly nboul sight perceni are sil ieal negaiive al

day an. And nersing homa msldents maybe oboul

20 parcanl are Sl lasl posilea on day an. And wa

know Bhal fram the reseanch Thol wa'se currenfly doing

wikh nursing home public response rotwork bacawss we'ro
gaing in and lesting residants nd slall every day aller

thary ane eaposad to COVID.

[} S to put that in lay terms, aro you saying

ihat Indivdizgl anployass who tesbed nagailea In March -
ik tall gnd of March 2029 could kave also boen sounces of
Mg, Bummers’ and averyono alsa's Infoctlans?

A, “oah. | beleve thares oy = | coald
cafculaie the proporiion, bed thera's a significant

preparion of Indivickals el may hava lasl posilve Then
ioslnegative. Again, an culbresk opcured there, And as
unfcriunale & It s, lesting basad an symploms anly is

S
MR, HAYDEM: Thani you, Your Honor,

BY MR. G, KELLY:

Q. Coupls of housekeoping measmres, Dr. Fridiin,
that | don't wanl to forget aboul. Mumbar oma, wars you
praclicing madcine in Gocrgla for one year balare tha
wennks wa'm bena to talk aboud today T

A ¥ag.

[+ % #ind have you boen continuously Boonsed in
Georgla sinco that dato forward?

. s, &ir

Q. Ini fact, what dabe wore you licensed o
practica madicing in Goongla®

A 1955 ared baan continuaus slnca e,

Q. My other house®oaping gueationa ks, have all
1h opdnlons you'va rendersd thus tar in responsa ta my
faisllons bann randensd to a reasonable depres of medical

oorainty®
A, Absolutaly
. Jusl a faw mora, Whal's aurvalllance blas?

A, ITa & phoncavinon when darly in & oulbroak
ar whaneval pablic health apidamiclogists &a looking al
evenl, fscious of noninfectious, you stait looking lor

i mnd you acheely perform losls o idonlify cases, &
idnnidly ayanls or infeclions, Because youTe esling lor
them, you'ne finding tham. |7 you an anly uEing daba
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25 0O True orfslas, D Blags, it was
1 inevitable that COVID 19 was gaing to gat into tha
134
2 Gallatin Canter?
3 A | think that SOVID 19 found its way Into
4 every walk of life throughout our antire axistance
5 including Galiatin Caenter,
& 0 Asmuchas-
T A& The answor is wes,
B 0 fight, The answer isyas, s
8 insvitable f was going 1o getin. That's what you

10 told ma when | took your deposition?

11 A e Sanang tree o 1, sswell,

__5SEp.,
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] Okay, 1If the testimony is that they wore
wearing masks when they had close contact with Ma.
Summers, would your opinion change as Lt relates to
those Five individuals, one or all of them, cauwsing
the virus to make ita way to Ma. Summers, would ypour
opinion changa?

B Ho.

2 5o even if they were weaclng masks; Lhose
ara the culprits?

A To the best of my knowledge, yes.

o That's all I can ask.

Isn't it true, Doctor, that even with
perfect symptom-based screening the wirus can make
its way into a skilled nursing facility?

A Surae.

4] Ckay. Isn't it true that with perfeck
soreening and masking, the virus can make its way
into a skilled nursing facility?

h YES.

¥} Okay,. BSo essentially, it's inevitable
that the wvirgs will make its way into a skilled
nuraing facilicy, correct?

b T would think so.

L] You don't know any nursing homa in the

woarld that has not had COVMID as s problem, correct?

Beres B Assoclates
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